brought to you by CORE



## Invasion Fitness and Adaptive Dynamics in Spatial Population Models

H

HH

HE II

A.M.

Ferriere, R. and Le Galliard, J.-F.

IIASA Interim Report September 2001 Ferriere, R. and Le Galliard, J.-F. (2001) Invasion Fitness and Adaptive Dynamics in Spatial Population Models. IIASA Interim Report. IR-01-043 Copyright © 2001 by the author(s). http://pure.iiasa.ac.at/6479/

**Interim Report** on work of the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis receive only limited review. Views or opinions expressed herein do not necessarily represent those of the Institute, its National Member Organizations, or other organizations supporting the work. All rights reserved. Permission to make digital or hard copies of all or part of this work

for personal or classroom use is granted without fee provided that copies are not made or distributed for profit or commercial advantage. All copies must bear this notice and the full citation on the first page. For other purposes, to republish, to post on servers or to redistribute to lists, permission must be sought by contacting repository@iiasa.ac.at



### Interim Report

IR-01-043

# Invasion Fitness and Adaptive Dynamics in Spatial Population Models

*Régis Ferrière (ferriere*@biologie.ens.fr) Jean-François Le Galliard (galliard@clipper.ens.fr)

#### Approved by

*Ulf Dieckmann (dieckman@iiasa.ac.at)* Project Coordinator, Adaptive Dynamics Network

September 2001

*Interim Reports* on work of the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis receive only limited review. Views or opinions expressed herein do not necessarily represent those of the Institute, its National Member Organizations, or other organizations supporting the work.

## **IIASA STUDIES IN ADAPTIVE DYNAMICS** No. 55



The Adaptive Dynamics Network at IIASA fosters the development of new mathematical and conceptual techniques for understanding the evolution of complex adaptive systems.

Focusing on these long-term implications of adaptive processes in systems of limited growth, the Adaptive Dynamics Network brings together scientists and institutions from around the world with IIASA acting as the central node.

Scientific progress within the network is reported in the IIASA Studies in Adaptive Dynamics series.

## THE ADAPTIVE DYNAMICS NETWORK

The pivotal role of evolutionary theory in life sciences derives from its capability to provide causal explanations for phenomena that are highly improbable in the physicochemical sense. Yet, until recently, many facts in biology could not be accounted for in the light of evolution. Just as physicists for a long time ignored the presence of chaos, these phenomena were basically not perceived by biologists.

Two examples illustrate this assertion. Although Darwin's publication of "The Origin of Species" sparked off the whole evolutionary revolution, oddly enough, the population genetic framework underlying the modern synthesis holds no clues to speciation events. A second illustration is the more recently appreciated issue of jump increases in biological complexity that result from the aggregation of individuals into mutualistic wholes.

These and many more problems possess a common source: the interactions of individuals are bound to change the environments these individuals live in. By closing the feedback loop in the evolutionary explanation, a new mathematical theory of the evolution of complex adaptive systems arises. It is this general theoretical option that lies at the core of the emerging field of adaptive dynamics. In consequence a major promise of adaptive dynamics studies is to elucidate the long-term effects of the interactions between ecological and evolutionary processes.

A commitment to interfacing the theory with empirical applications is necessary both for validation and for management problems. For example, empirical evidence indicates that to control pests and diseases or to achieve sustainable harvesting of renewable resources evolutionary deliberation is already crucial on the time scale of two decades.

The Adaptive Dynamics Network has as its primary objective the development of mathematical tools for the analysis of adaptive systems inside and outside the biological realm.

## **IIASA STUDIES IN ADAPTIVE DYNAMICS**

No. 1 Metz JAJ, Geritz SAH, Meszéna G, Jacobs FJA, van Heerwaarden JS: Adaptive Dynamics: A Geometrical Study of the Consequences of Nearly Faithful Reproduction.

IIASA Working Paper WP-95-099.

In: van Strien SJ, Verduyn Lunel SM (eds.): Stochastic and Spatial Structures of Dynamical Systems, Proceedings of the Royal Dutch Academy of Science (KNAW Verhandelingen), North Holland, Amsterdam, pp. 183–231 (1996).

 No. 2 Dieckmann U, Law R: *The Dynamical Theory of Coevolution: A Derivation from Stochastic Ecological Processes.* IIASA Working Paper WP-96-001.

Journal of Mathematical Biology (1996) 34, 579-612.

- No. 3 Dieckmann U, Marrow P, Law R: *Evolutionary Cycling of Predator-Prey Interactions: Population Dynamics and the Red Queen.* Journal of Theoretical Biology (1995) 176, 91–102.
- No. 4 Marrow P, Dieckmann U, Law R: Evolutionary Dynamics of Predator-Prey Systems: An Ecological Perspective.
  IIASA Working Paper WP-96-002. Journal of Mathematical Biology (1996) 34, 556–578.
- No. 5 Law R, Marrow P, Dieckmann U: On Evolution under Asymmetric Competition.
  IIASA Working Paper WP-96-003.
  Evolutionary Ecology (1997) 11, 485–501.
- No. 6 Metz JAJ, Mylius SD, Diekmann O: When Does Evolution Optimise? On the Relation between Types of Density Dependence and Evolutionarily Stable Life History Parameters. IIASA Working Paper WP-96-004.
- No. 7 Ferrière R, Gatto M: Lyapunov Exponents and the Mathematics of Invasion in Oscillatory or Chaotic Populations. Theoretical Population Biology (1995) 48, 126–171.

- No. 8 Ferrière R, Fox GA: *Chaos and Evolution.* Trends in Ecology and Evolution (1995) 10, 480–485.
- No. 9 Ferrière R, Michod RE: *The Evolution of Cooperation in Spatially Heterogeneous Populations*. IIASA Working Paper WP-96-029. American Naturalist (1996) 147, 692–717.
- No. 10 Van Dooren TJM, Metz JAJ: Delayed Maturation in Temporally Structured Populations with Non-Equilibrium Dynamics.
   IIASA Working Paper WP-96-070. Journal of Evolutionary Biology (1998) 11, 41–62.
- No. 11 Geritz SAH, Metz JAJ, Kisdi É, Meszéna G: *The Dynamics of Adaptation and Evolutionary Branching*. IIASA Working Paper WP-96-077. Physical Review Letters (1997) 78, 2024–2027.
- No. 12 Geritz SAH, Kisdi É, Meszéna G, Metz JAJ: Evolutionarily Singular Strategies and the Adaptive Growth and Branching of the Evolutionary Tree.
  IIASA Working Paper WP-96-114.
  Evolutionary Ecology (1998) 12, 35–57.

No. 13 Heino M, Metz JAJ, Kaitala V: Evolution of Mixed Maturation Strategies in Semelparous Life-Histories: the Crucial Role of Dimensionality of Feedback Environment. IIASA Working Paper WP-96-126.
Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B (1997) 352, 1647– 1655.

- No. 14 Dieckmann U: *Can Adaptive Dynamics Invade?* IIASA Working Paper WP-96-152. Trends in Ecology and Evolution (1997) 12, 128–131.
- No. 15 Meszéna G, Czibula I, Geritz SAH: Adaptive Dynamics in a Two-Patch Environment: a Simple Model for Allopatric and Parapatric Speciation.
  IIASA Interim Report IR-97-001. Journal of Biological Systems (1997) 5, 265–284.

No. 16 Heino M, Metz JAJ, Kaitala V: The Enigma of Frequency-Dependent Selection. IIASA Interim Report IR-97-061. Trends in Ecology and Evolution (1998) 13, 367-370. No. 17 Heino M: Management of Evolving Fish Stocks. IIASA Interim Report IR-97-062. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences (1998) 55, 1971–1982. No. 18 Heino M: Evolution of Mixed Reproductive Strategies in Simple Life-History Models. IIASA Interim Report IR-97-063. No. 19 Geritz SAH, van der Meijden E, Metz JAJ: Evolutionary Dynamics of Seed Size and Seedling Competitive Ability. IIASA Interim Report IR-97-071. Theoretical Population Biology (1999) 55, 324-343. No. 20 Galis F. Metz JAJ: Why are there so many Cichlid Species? On the Interplay of Speciation and Adaptive Radiation. IIASA Interim Report IR-97-072. Trends in Ecology and Evolution (1998) 13, 1–2. No. 21 Boerlijst MC, Nowak MA, Sigmund K: Equal Pay for all Prisoners. / The Logic of Contrition. IIASA Interim Report IR-97-073. American Mathematical Society Monthly (1997) 104, 303-307. Journal of Theoretical Biology (1997) 185, 281-294. No. 22 Law R. Dieckmann U: Symbiosis without Mutualism and the Merger of Lineages in Evolution. IIASA Interim Report IR-97-074. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B (1998) 265, 1245-1253. No. 23 Klinkhamer PGL, de Jong TJ, Metz JAJ: Sex and Size in Cosexual Plants. IIASA Interim Report IR-97-078. Trends in Ecology and Evolution (1997) 12, 260-265. No. 24 Fontana W. Schuster P: Shaping Space: The Possible and the Attainable in RNA Genotype-Phenotype Mapping. IIASA Interim Report IR-98-004. Journal of Theoretical Biology (1998) 194, 491-515.

- No. 25 Kisdi É, Geritz SAH: Adaptive Dynamics in Allele Space: Evolution of Genetic Polymorphism by Small Mutations in a Heterogeneous Environment.
  IIASA Interim Report IR-98-038. Evolution (1999) 53, 993-1008.
- No. 26 Fontana W, Schuster P: Continuity in Evolution: On the Nature of Transitions.
  IIASA Interim Report IR-98-039.
  Science (1998) 280, 1451–1455.

No. 27 Nowak MA, Sigmund K: Evolution of Indirect Reciprocity by Image Scoring. / The Dynamics of Indirect Reciprocity.
IIASA Interim Report IR-98-040. Nature (1998) 393, 573–577. Journal of Theoretical Biology (1998) 194, 561-574.

- No. 28 Kisdi É: *Evolutionary Branching Under Asymmetric Competition.* IIASA Interim Report IR-98-045. Journal of Theoretical Biology (1999) 197, 149-162.
- No. 29 Berger U: Best Response Adaptation for Role Games. IIASA Interim Report IR-98-086.
- No. 30 Van Dooren TJM: *The Evolutionary Ecology of Dominance-Recessivity.*  IIASA Interim Report IR-98-096. Journal of Theoretical Biology (1999) 198, 519-532.
- No. 31 Dieckmann U, O'Hara B, Weisser W: *The Evolutionary Ecology of Dispersal.* IIASA Interim Report IR-98-108. Trends in Ecology and Evolution (1999) 14, 88–90.
- No. 32 Sigmund K: *Complex Adaptive Systems and the Evolution of Reciprocation.* IIASA Interim Report IR-98-100. Ecosystems (1998) 1, 444-448.
- No. 33 Posch M, Pichler A, Sigmund K: *The Efficiency of Adapting Aspiration Levels*. IIASA Interim Report IR-98-103. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B (1999) 266, 1427-1435.

- No. 34 Mathias A, Kisdi É: *Evolutionary Branching and Coexistence of Germination Strategies*. IIASA Interim Report IR-99-014.
- No. 35 Dieckmann U, Doebeli M: On the Origin of Species by Sympatric Speciation.
  IIASA Interim Report IR-99-013.
  Nature (1999) 400, 354–357.
- No. 36 Metz JAJ, Gyllenberg M: How Should We Define Fitness in Structured Metapopulation Models? Including an Application to the Calculation of Evolutionarily Stable Dispersal Strategies.
   IIASA Interim Report IR-99-019.
   Research Report A39 (1999), University of Turku, Institute of Applied Mathematics, Turku, Finland.
- No. 37 Gyllenberg M, Metz JAJ: On Fitness in Structured Metapopulations.
   IIASA Interim Report IR-99-037.
   Research Report A38 (1999), University of Turku, Institute of Applied Mathematics, Turku, Finland.
- No. 38 Meszéna G, Metz JAJ: Species Diversity and Population Regulation: The Importance of Environ- mental Feedback Dimensionality. IIASA Interim Report IR-99-045.
- No. 39 Kisdi É, Geritz SAH: *Evolutionary Branching and Sympatric Speciation in Diploid Populations*. IIASA Interim Report IR-99-048.
- No. 40 Ylikarjula J, Heino M, Dieckmann U: Ecology and Adaptation of Stunted Growth in Fish. IIASA Interim Report IR-99-050. Evolutionary Ecology (1999) 13, 433–453.
- No. 41 Nowak MA, Sigmund K: Games on Grids. IIASA Interim Report IR-99-038.

In: Dieckmann U, Law R, Metz JAJ (eds.): The Geometry of Ecological Interactions: Simplifying Spatial Complexity, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 135–150 (2000).

No. 42 Ferrière R, Michod RE: Wave Patterns in Spatial Games and the Evolution of Cooperation. IIASA Interim Report IR-99-041.

In: Dieckmann U, Law R, Metz JAJ (eds.): The Geometry of Ecological Interactions: Simplifying Spatial Complexity, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 318–332 (2000).

- No. 43 Kisdi É, Jacobs FJA, Geritz SAH: *Red Queen Evolution by Cycles of Evolutionary Branching and Extinction*. IIASA Interim Report IR-00-030.
- No. 44 Meszéna G, Kisdi É, Dieckmann U, Geritz SAH, Metz JAJ: *Evolutionary Optimisation Models and Matrix Games in the Unified Perspec- tive of Adaptive Dynamics.* IIASA Interim Report IR-00-039.
- No. 45 Parvinen K, Dieckmann U, Gyllenberg M, Metz JAJ: *Evolution of Dispersal in Metapopulations with Local Density Dependence and Demographic Stochasticity.* IIASA Interim Report IR-00-035.
- No. 46 Doebeli M, Dieckmann, U: Evolutionary Branching and Sympatric Speciation Caused by Different Types of Ecological Interactions.
   IIASA Interim Report IR-00-040. The American Naturalist (2000) 156, S77–S101.
- No. 47 Heino M, Hanski I: Evolution of Migration Rate in a Spatially Realistic Metapopulation Model. IIASA Interim Report IR-00-044.
- No. 48 Gyllenberg M, Parvinen K, Dieckmann U: *Evolutionary Suicide and Evolution of Dispersal in Structured Metapopula- tions.* IIASA Interim Report IR-00-056.
- No. 49 Van Dooren TJM: *The Evolutionary Dynamics of Direct Phenotypic Overdominance: Emer- gence Possible, Loss Probable.* IIASA Interim Report IR-00-048.
- No. 50 Nowak MA, Page KM, Sigmund K: Fairness Versus Reason in the Ultimatum Game. IIASA Interim Report IR-00-057. Science (2000) 289, 1773-1775.
- No. 51 De Feo O, Ferrière R: Bifurcation Analysis of Population Invasion: On-Off Intermittency and Basin Riddling.
   IIASA Interim Report IR-00-057.
- No. 52 Laaka-Lindberg S, Heino M: *Clonal Dynamics and Evolution of Dormancy in the leafy hepatic* Lophozia silvicola. IIASA Interim Report IR-01-018.

- No. 53 Sigmund K, Hauert C, Nowak MA: *Reward and Punishment in Minigames.* IIASA Interim Report IR-01-031.
- No. 54 Hauert C, De Monte S, Sigmund K, Hofbauer J: Oscillations in Optional Public Good Games. IIASA Interim Report IR-01-036.
- No. 55 Ferrière R, Le Galliard JF: Invasion Fitness and Adaptive Dynamics in Spatial Population Models. IIASA Interim Report IR-01-043.

Issues of the IIASA Studies in Adaptive Dynamics series can be obtained free of charge. Please contact:

Adaptive Dynamics Network International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis Schlossplatz 1 A–2361 Laxenburg Austria

Telephone +43 2236 807, Telefax +43 2236 71313, E-Mail adn@iiasa.ac.at, Internet http://www.iiasa.ac.at/Research/ADN

## Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Adaptive dynamics and the concept of invasion fitness	2
The canonical equation of adaptive dynamics	3
Mutant invasion rate as a measure of fitness	4
Invasion fitness, ESS, CSS, and evolutionary branching	5
3. Spatial invasion fitness in homogeneous habitats	5
Spatial population models	5
Modeling the spatial dynamics of population lattices	6
From individuals to pair dynamics and correlation equations	8
Spatial invasion fitness	13
4. Application: coadaptation of dispersal and altruism	15
Model assumptions	15
Table 1. Variables and parameters of the lattice model	16
Table 2. Specific variables and parameters of the model	17
Adaptive dynamics of dispersal and altruism	17
Revisiting Hamilton's Rule	
Does spatial invasion fitness rightly predict evolutionary dynamics?	
5. Concluding Remarks	24
References	25

#### Abstract

Disentangling proximate and ultimate factors of dispersal and assessing their relative effects requires an appropriate measure of fitness. Yet there have been few theoretical attempts to coherently define fitness from demographic "first principles", when space-related traits like dispersal are adaptive. In this chapter, we present the framework of adaptive dynamics and argue that *invasion fitness* is a robust concept accounting for ecological processes that operate at the individual level. The derivation of invasion fitness for spatial ecological scenarios is presented. Spatial invasion fitness involves the effect of neighbors on a focal individual, mediated by coefficients analogous to relatedness coefficients of population genetics. Spatial invasion fitness can be used to investigate the joint evolution of dispersal and altruism—two traits that both have a direct influence on, and are strongly responsive to, the spatial distribution of individuals. Our deterministic predictions of dispersal and altruism evolution based on spatial invasion fitness are in good agreement with stochastic individual-based simulations of the mutation-selection process acting on these traits.

#### **About the Authors**

Régis Ferrière Institut d'Ecologie Groupe Eco-évolution Mathématique Laboratoire "Fonctionnement et évolution des systèmes écologiques" CNRS UMR 7625 Ecole Normale Supérieure 75005 Paris, France and

> Adaptive Dynamics Network International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis A-2361 Laxenburg, Austria

Jean-François Le Galliard Institut d'Ecologie Groupe Eco-évolution Mathématique Laboratoire "Fonctionnement et évolution des systèmes écologiques" CNRS UMR 7625 Ecole Normale Supérieure 75005 Paris, France

#### Acknowledgments

Initially, we planned to coauthor the chapter with Denis Couvet, whose expertise in population genetics would have been critical to achieve a complete reinterpretation of traditional kin selection models in a spatially explicit context. Obviously the shot is longer than we thought, and we are still far away from the big integration of spatial ecology and population genetics. Yet discussions with Denis were most useful to delineate the critical issues and pitfalls in this enterprise. He deserves very grateful acknowlegement. We also owe many thanks to Ulf Dieckmann, who kindly wrote the program which was used to produce the individual-based simulations presented in Section 4 and is contributing substantially to our ongoing research project on the coadaptative dynamics of altruism and dispersal. Many thanks also to Mats Gyllenberg, Laurent Lehman, Nicolas Perrin, François Rousset, and Minus van Baalen for stimulating discussions and invaluable comments on a previous draft of this chapter; to Molly Brewton for her most careful editing of our manuscript; and to the Editors of this volume for their constant support and patience. Part of this work has been supported by the Adaptive Dynamics Network (IIASA, Laxenburg, Austria).

#### Invasion Fitness and Adaptive Dynamics in Spatial Population Models

*Régis Ferrière* Jean-François Le Galliard

#### 1. Introduction

Even in homogeneous habitats, *spatial fluctuations* of population size arise inevitably as a result of demographic stochasticity, and *spatial correlations* build up from the imperfect mixing of individuals, induced by their limited range of dispersal (Tilman & Kareiva, 1998; Dieckmann *et al.*, 2000). As a consequence, selective forces acting on the life-history traits of individuals are neither uniform nor independent across space. Dispersal propensity (in the broad sense of natal dispersal and breeding dispersal) is therefore a pivotal component of the individuals' phenotype, for it is both a target of selection and a primary factor in spatial fluctuations and correlations in the selective regime (Ferrière *et al.*, 2000).

Since the seminal work of Hamilton & May (1977), we know that the avoidance of competition with related individuals is an important factor in explaining the evolution of dispersal. It has recently been argued that dispersal probabilities evolving under the sole effect of kin competition provide a null model against which to assess the relative importance of alternative selective forces, as predicted by more elaborate kin selection models (Ronce, 1999). In kin selection theory based on diallelic, haploid genetics, the commonly used measure of fitness is invasion fitness, that is, the per capita growth rate of a mutant when rare. For pairwise interactions involving an "actor" and a "recipient", the definition of invasion fitness involves the *relatedness* of the recipient to the actor (Grafen 1979), for which the correct definition is the probability that the recipient is a mutant (Day & Taylor, 1998). However, this assumes that the altered phenotype of a mutant has no effect on that probability and therefore does not change relatedness. Obviously, this does not hold true when the phenotypic traits under consideration, like dispersal, modify the distribution of individuals across space. Furthermore, modelling a mutant's initial rarity requires some care in spatial models (Rousset & Billiard, manuscript), for the population size is locally finite everywhere, and the initial number of mutants may not be regarded locally as infinitesimal.

The purpose of this chapter is to provide a modeling framework that allows us to investigate the evolutionary dynamics of adaptive, continuous traits, while accounting explicitely for both the reciprocal effects of these traits on the spatial distribution of individuals, and for the effects of the spatial heterogeneity of selective pressures on the traits' evolutionary dynamics. In section 2, we provide a general argument that the notion of invasion fitness is appropriate to capture "first" demographic principles

operating at the level of individuals, and to describe the long-term evolutionary dynamics of adaptive life-history traits (Metz et al., 1992, 1996; Dieckmann & Law, 1996; Geritz et al. 1997, 1998). We then present, in section 3, van Baalen and Rand's (1998) extension of the notion of invasion fitness to spatially heterogeneous populations. Spatial invasion fitness is derived from first demographic and behavioral principles operating at the levels of individuals and their nearby neighbors. In nonspatial populations, where individuals are assumed to be constantly well-mixed and interactions occur at random between them, invasion fitness can be obtained as the Malthusian growth rate of a simple birth-and-death process (Ferrière & Clobert, 1992; Metz et al., 1992; Ferrière & Gatto, 1995). In contrast, when interactions develop locally and dispersal is limited to neighborhoods, the process of mutant growth should be modelled by keeping track of spatial statistics that describe local population structures beyond global densities. The theory of correlation equations (Matsuda et al., 1992; Morris, 1997; Rand, 1998) provides the appropriate mathematical tools. Under certain assumptions about habitat structure and the model's mathematical properties, invasion fitness can then be obtained as the dominant eigenvalue of a matrix (van Baalen & Rand, 1998), just as one would recover the population growth rate of a simple Leslie model (Caswell, 1989). In the spatial setting, the matrix involved contains demographic parameters that depend upon the local spatial structure of the population.

In section 4 we use this framework to investigate the joint evolution of dispersal and altruistic behavior. The evolution of dispersal and the evolution of altruism have been the focus of two rather independent lines of research that trace back to the seminal work of Hamilton (1964). Yet there are serious reasons for trying to merge these lines. With limited dispersal, individuals are likely to interact with relatives, and kin selection models would then predict altruism to evolve. Yet neighbors do not only interact socially; they compete with each other as well. Thus, clustering of relatives may not be sufficient for sociality to evolve. A dose of dispersal might be needed, so that a locally successful strategy can be exported throughout the resident population. Co-adaptive changes in dispersal and social behavior may thus be expected. A detailed exploration of these questions is to be found in Ferrière & Le Galliard (in prep.) and Le Galliard et al. (a and b, in prep.).

#### 2. Adaptive dynamics and the concept of invasion fitness

We will first introduce the basics of a general and coherent mathematical theory of Darwinian evolution which aims at describing the evolutionary dynamics of adaptive, continuous traits. This *adaptive dynamics theory* (founding papers are Metz *et al.*, 1992, Metz *et al.*, 1996; Dieckmann & Law, 1996; Geritz et al., 1997) satisfies three important requirements:

- Adaptive dynamics are modelled as a macroscopic description derived from microscopic mechanisms. Selective pressures are set by ecological mechanisms operating at the "microscopic" level of individuals.
- Adaptive dynamics incorporate the stochastic elements of evolutionary processes, arising from the random process of mutation and from the extinction risk of initially small mutant populations.

• Adaptive dynamics describe evolution as a dynamical process, identifying potential evolutionary endpoints, and among them those which, indeed, are attractors for the traits' dynamics.

In this section, we present a brief overview of the principles of adaptive dynamics modelling, to show that a consistent measure of fitness arises naturally from the description of microscopic processes underlying ecological interactions (the reader should refer to Metz *et al.*, 1992, Marrow *et al.*, 1992, and Dieckmann & Law, 1996, for a more thorough treatment). In the following sections, we shall see how to derive this fitness measure for a class of spatial population models where the individual probability of dispersal is one of the adaptive traits under consideration.

#### The canonical equation of adaptive dynamics

We consider a closed population of a single species. Individuals are characterized by a suite of adaptive, quantitative traits which define their *phenotype*. They reproduce and die at rates that depend upon their phenotype and their environment, including external factors as well as their own congeneric population. Haploid inheritance is assumed, and there is a non-zero probability for a birth event to produce a mutant offspring, that is, an individual that differs from its parent in one of the traits. Individuals interact with each other, and the process of selection determines changes in the abundance of each phenotype through time.

Direct individual-based models accounting for the stochasticity of birth, death, and mutation events could be run to study how the distribution of phenotypes present in the population evolves through time. The theory of adaptive dynamics was developed as an alternative to intensive computer calculations, to provide a handy, deterministic description of the stochastic processes of mutation and selection.

Adaptive dynamics models rest on two basic principles (Metz *et al.*, 1996): mutual exclusion, "in general two phenotypes x and x' differing only slightly cannot coexist indefinitely in the population"; and time scale separation, "the time scale of selection is much faster than that of mutation". Thus, one may regard the adaptive dynamics as a trait substitution sequence. Each step occurs at a rate equal to the probability w(x'|x) per unit time for a specific phenotype substitution, say x' substituted to x. The so-called *canonical equation* of adaptive dynamics then describes how the mean of the probability distribution of trait values in the evolving population changes through time. If we keep using x to denote this mean, the canonical equation reads (Dieckmann & Law, 1996):

$$\frac{d}{dt}x = \int (x'-x) \cdot w(x'|x) \, dx' \tag{2.1}$$

where the integral sum is taken over the whole range of feasible phenotypes.

Following on the traditional view of the evolutionary process as a hill-climbing walk on an adaptive landscape (Wright, 1931), we seek to recast the canonical equation into the form

$$\frac{d}{dt}x = \eta(x) \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial x'} W(x', x) \Big|_{x'=x}$$
(2.2)

where the coefficient  $\eta(x)$  would scale the rate of evolutionary change, and W(x', x)would rigorously define the measure of fitness of individuals with trait value x' in the environment set by the bearers of trait value x. This mathematical derivation ought to be underpinned by a biologically consistent description of the mutation-selection process.

#### Mutant invasion rate as a measure of fitness

To recast the canonical equation (2.1) into the form of equation (2.2), we first expand w(x'|x) as the product of a mutation term and a selection term. To keep notations simple, we shall restrict ourselves to the case where phenotypes are characterized by a single trait. The mutation term is the probability per unit time that the mutant enters the population. It involves four multiplicative components: the per capita birth rate b(x) of phenotype x, the fraction  $\mu(x)$  of births affected by mutations, the equilibrium population size  $\hat{n}_x$  of phenotype x, and the probability of a mutation step size x' - xfrom phenotype *x*. The selection term is the probability that the initially rare mutant gets to fixation. Under the assumption that the population is *well mixed*, we can neglect the effects of the mutant density on the demographic rates of the mutant and resident populations. Let us denote the per capita birth and death rates of the rare mutant in a resident population of phenotype x by b(x', x) and d(x', x). Then, the difference b(x', x) - d(x', x) measures the mutant invasion rate, that is, the per capita growth rate of initially rare mutants, hereafter denoted by s(x', x). The theory of stochastic birth-anddeath processes (e.g. pages 39-41 in Renshaw, 1991) shows that the probability that the mutant population escapes initial extinction starting from size 1 is zero if s(x', x) < 0, and is approximately equal to s(x', x)/b(x', x) otherwise.

Altogether we obtain

$$w(x'|x) = \mu(x) \cdot b(x) \cdot \hat{n}_{x} \cdot M(x, x'-x) \cdot \frac{[s(x', x)]_{+}}{b(x', x)}$$
(2.3)

where  $\hat{n}_x$  denotes the equilibrium population size of phenotype x. The quantity  $[s(x',x)]_+$  is equal to s(x',x) if s(x',x) > 0, and to zero otherwise; this means that only advantageous mutants, with a positive invasion rate, have a non-zero chance of getting established. Up to first order in the mutation step size x' - x we have also

$$\frac{s(x',x)}{b(x',x)} \approx \frac{1}{b(x)} \cdot (x'-x) \cdot \frac{\partial s}{\partial x'} \Big|_{x'=x}$$
(2.4)

where we have used s(x, x) = 0 since the population of phenotype x is at demographic equilibrium. If we assume the mutation process to be symmetric, and denote the variance of the mutation distribution *M* by  $\sigma^2(x)$ , we can insert equation (2.3), together with equation (2.4), into equation (2.1) and compute the integral to obtain (Dieckmann & Law, 1996)

$$\frac{d}{dt}x = \left[\mu(x) \cdot \frac{\sigma^2(x)}{2} \cdot \hat{n}_x\right] \cdot \frac{\partial s}{\partial x'}\Big|_{x'=x}$$
(2.5)

which precisely conforms to equation (2.2).

According to this deterministic approximation of adaptive dynamics, the evolutionary rate  $\eta(x)$  of equation (2.2) is given by the bracketed product which encapsulates the influence of mutation. Most importantly, this derivation identifies the mutant invasion rate s(x', x) as the appropriate measure of fitness denoted by W(x', x) in equation (2.2). Therefore, we call s(x', x) the mutant *invasion fitness*.

#### Invasion fitness, ESS, CSS, and evolutionary branching

The *selection derivative* (Marrow *et al.*, 1992),  $\partial s/\partial x'|_{x=x}$ , determines the direction of adaptive change. When the selection derivative is positive (or negative), an increase (or a decrease) of the trait value x will be advantageous in the vicinity of the resident trait value. Phenotypes that nullify the selection derivative are called *evolutionary singularities* and represent potential end points for the evolutionary process. Yet careful inspection of stability properties of evolutionary singularities is required before conclusions can be drawn about the adaptive dynamics in their vicinity (Geritz *et al.*, 1998):

- If invasion fitness reaches a local maximum at an evolutionary singularity, then this singularity is an *evolutionarily stable strategy* (ESS), in the classical terminology of evolutionary biology.
- An ESS need not be attainable: if the selection derivative increases near the ESS, any evolutionary trajectory starting nearby will actually be repelled away from the ESS. In this case, the ESS also is an *evolutionary repellor*.
- Conversely, a singularity may attract evolutionary trajectories and yet correspond to a fitness minimum. In this perhaps most remarkable case, selection is initially stabilizing and drives the population to a point where ecological interactions turn the selective regime into a disruptive one, and dimorphism evolves. This phenomenon is known as *evolutionary branching*. The canonical equation for adaptive dynamics provides an approximate model for evolutionary trajectories heading to a branching phenotype, but obviously fails to capture the population's further evolutionary dynamics.

## 3. Spatial invasion fitness in homogeneous habitats

One conclusion to be drawn from the previous section is that the derivation of invasion fitness must be underpinned by an ecological model for the population dynamics. The definition of a fitness measure as a function of space-related traits therefore requires that spatial structure and local interactions are both incorporated into the underlying ecological model.

#### Spatial population models

Spatial models fall into two main categories, depending on the continuous versus discrete structure of the habitat. Traditional models for continuous space (*reaction-diffusion models*; see Okubo, 1980) run into serious biological inconsistencies, like the assumption that infinitely many "nano-individuals" may live in arbitrarily small areas. It is only recently that two new types of mathematically sound and biologically consistent

models have been derived. Hydrodynamics limit models are spatially explicit; akin to reaction-diffusion equations, they involve correction terms that account for local interactions and dispersal (Durrett & Levin, 1994). Moment equations are spatially implicit; they describe the dynamics of the statistical moments of the distribution of individuals in space (Bolker & Pacala, 1999; Dieckmann & Law, 2000). For modelling spatial population processes over discrete space, there is a long tradition of metapopulation models (Levins, 1969; Hanski & Gilpin, 1997; Hanski, 1999, and references therein). Classical models of metapopulations are not truly spatial in the sense that they do not involve the notion of neighborhood; dispersal is global, and all dispersing individuals, irrespective of their location, are mixed into a common pool before being redistributed to patches.<sup>1</sup> Stepping-stone models (Kendall, 1948; Kingman, 1969; Renshaw, 1986) assume that a set of finite populations is distributed on a regular lattice of patches. Dispersal takes place between neighboring patches. In the field of population genetics, stepping-stone models usually assume that all patches are saturated to their carrying capacity (Malecot, 1948; Kimura, 1953; Malecot, 1975). Lattice models (Matsuda et al., 1992; Morris, 1997; Rand, 1998) have been developed recently as another tool for modelling population dynamics in discrete space. Lattice models prescribe the possible locations of individuals on a network of sites, each site hosting at most one individual. There is no saturation assumption: all sites need not be occupied. Local interactions and local dispersal occur between any site and its neighborhood of connected sites. Like moment equations, lattice models are spatially implicit, and they aim at describing neighbor-range spatial correlations.

When it comes to deriving a measure of invasion fitness from these ecological models, operational results are scant. So far, no rigorous invasion criterion has been able to be established for models of hydrodynamics limits or moments. Invasion fitness in metapopulations has been worked out by Olivieri *et al.* (1995) and, in greater generality, by Metz and Gyllenberg (*in press*). However, as we have already pointed out, such models do not account for limited dispersal, and therefore address spatial processes in a rather special way. The study of interacting populations, using stepping-stone models, remains very limited. Only lattice models have led to a rigorous mathematical definition of invasion fitness in space (van Baalen & Rand 1998), and it is models of this type that we shall consider further in the rest of this chapter.

#### Modeling the spatial dynamics of population lattices

The population is distributed over an infinite network, or lattice, of connected sites (Fig. 1). A site contains at most one individual. Interactions (social, competitive, parasitic, etc.) may occur only between individuals that inhabit connected sites, and movement may occur only from a given site to a connected site. This has the important consequence that the spatial scale is the same for dispersal and interactions. For simplicity, we shall assume that each site is connected to the same number (n) of neighboring sites (e.g. a regular lattice). Each site is in one of a limited number of possible states: empty, or occupied by an individual of one out of N possible types. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For the sake of completeness, we should mention the so-called *two-patch* or *n-patch models* frequently used (possibly overused) to describe local population regulation by means of simple nonlinear density-dependence (like the Ricker map). For examples and corresponding references, see chapter 3 in Hanski (1999). Unfortunately, as they treat the densities of local populations as continuous variables, they have to rely on the rather unsatisfactory premise that local population size is infinite.



Figure 1. Example of random lattice. Each site is randomly linked to a fixed number n of other sites. Here n = 3. Dark circles are occupied sites; open circles are empty sites.

configuration of the whole lattice is given by the states of all sites. The lattice configuration changes as a result of two types of events potentially affecting any site during any short time interval: birth or immigration of an individual from a neighboring site, and death or emigration of the individual occupying a site. In general, dispersal (emigration-immigration) is not restricted to the newborn class.

We aim at describing the temporal dynamics of the frequencies of sites that are empty and sites that are occupied by any given phenotype (Matsuda *et al.*, 1992; Rand, 1998). The probability that the state of a site changes depends not only on its current state but also on the state of neighboring sites, for two different reasons. On the one hand, dispersal and birth are local events whose realization is conditional on the availability of empty sites in the neighborhood. The likelihood that an individual in a given site moves or exports its offspring is proportional to the frequency of empty sites in its neighborhood. On the other hand, local interactions with neighbors will affect the birth rate and death rate of any focal individual. For example, individuals might negatively affect each other's birth rate through local competition for food. In this case, the birth rate could be seen as a decreasing function of the number of neighbors.

Therefore the *frequency of sites in state i* among all sites in the lattice,  $p_i$ , must depend on the neighborhood structure, as described by a second-order statistic for the distribution of the configurations of all pairs of nearest-neighbor sites. The dynamics of pair configurations depend in turn on the state of triplets including the pairs' neighbors, and so on. A full description of the lattice dynamics eventually requires an infinite hierarchy of statistics, each one describing the spatial structure on a particular scale (sites, pairs, triplets and so on) in relation to the next one (Morris, 1997). To make a model tractable, one has to choose a particular scale of description, and make appropriate approximations to close the exact, infinite system at that scale. This means that the frequencies of configurations beyond the chosen spatial scale are estimated from the frequencies of configurations up to that scale. No mathematical procedure is currently available to systematically identify the scale at which the system should be closed and the closure procedure that should be applied in order to obtain the best approximation of the dynamics of the infinite-dimensional model. This will depend on the particular model under consideration and on the biological motivation guiding the analysis (Morris, 1997; Dieckmann & Law, 2000).

Our aim is to describe the dynamics of lattices at the most local scale, that of pairs of nearest neighbors. Pair-dynamics models can account for the effect of spatial correlations which arise at a local scale and vanish quickly, although they are not concerned with the development of large-scale spatial structures. It should be noticed that, at least for regular lattices, one may straightforwardly recover the frequencies of sites in the various states (i.e., the  $p_i$ 's) simply by adding the appropriate pair frequencies. Pair-dynamics models offer a handy compromise between the need to incorporate and describe some of the spatial complexity of the population dynamics, and the aim of deriving useful analytical results on population equilibrium and invasion conditions. The pair-dynamics approach has been used to construct appropriate correlation equations for plant dynamics models (Harada & Iwasa, 1994; Satō & Konno, 1995), spatial games (Morris, 1997; Nakamaru *et al.*, 1997), social interactions (Matsuda *et al.*, 1992; Harada *et al.*, 1995; van Baalen & Rand, 1998), and epidemic models (Keeling, 1996; Morris, 1997). In the case of a spatial game on a regular lattice, however, Morris (1997) showed that the pair-dynamics description could fail dramatically. Then, moving up to the triplet dynamics is often sufficient to obtain a substantial improvement in the closure accuracy.

#### From individuals to pair dynamics and correlation equations

We define  $p_{ij}$  as the frequency of pairs of nearest-neighbor sites, one being in state *i*, and the other in state *j*. Such a pair is denoted by (i, j), and the frequency  $p_{ij}$  is calculated over all pairs<sup>2</sup> in the lattice. We shall take four heuristic steps in order to derive the so-called *correlation equations*—that is, a set of nonlinear differential equations that describe the lattice dynamics at the spatial scale of pairs. The four steps are:

- 1. Write the rates of local events for anchored pairs. We call *anchored pair* one that contains a given site *z* occupied by an individual in a specified state *i*. By definition, *local pair events* affect anchored pairs, and are triggered by a site event at the anchored site *z* (see Fig. 2). Four local events have to be considered (see paragraph below for details).
- 2. Average the rates of local events for anchored pairs calculated at Step 1 over all sites *z* in state *i*.
- 3. Calculate the rate of change of the frequency of all (i, j) pairs by bookkeeping all possible transitions of anchored pairs that may create or destroy an (i, j) pair.
- 4. Apply an appropriate closure procedure designed to approximate all statistics involving triplets in terms of statistics for pairs.

(See Morris, 1997, and Rand, 1998, for a rigorous account of all mathematical details involved).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Note that the pairs are symmetric, which implies (i, j) = (j, i).



**Figure 2**. The four local pair events and their rates. Open circles are empty sites. Each dark circle is occupied by a type *i* individual. Hatched circles are in state *j*. See text for notations and explanations.

Step 1. Transition rates for anchored pairs. We define the anchored pair  $(i \in z; j \in z')$ to be the pair spanning the sites located at z and z', and hosting a type *i* individual in site z while site z' is in state j. We consider the four local events that can affect such a pair as a result of an individual event occuring at z (Fig. 2): a birth event at z when j is the empty state; two mortality events affecting the *i* individual at *z*, differing in the presence or absence of an individual at z'; a dispersal event from z to z', assuming z' to be empty. The individual birth rate, death rate, and dispersal rate involve three additive components: an intrinsic, baseline rate that may depend on the individual's phenotype, an interaction term that measures the effect of neighbors, and a cost term that depends on the individual's phenotype. To calculate the rate of local events, we must introduce the number  $n_{kii}(z)$  of neighboring sites in state k next to the z site of an anchored pair  $(i \in z; j \in z')$ . We simply add the contributions to the event rate affecting the *i* individual at z resulting from all possible configurations of the neighborhood of site z. The per-capita rate of the birth and dispersal local events should be scaled by  $\phi$ , the inverse neighborhood size. This reflects the fact that a birth or dispersal event affecting, at a given rate, a focal individual that belongs to *n* pairs, will affect any of these pairs at a rate *n* times slower; in contrast, a death event at z will concommittently affect all *n* pairs containing z. Altogether, this yields the following rates for each of the transitions depicted in Fig. 2:

$$\phi \tilde{b}_{i}(z) = \phi \left( b_{i}(z) + \sum_{k \in N} E_{ik}^{b}(z) n_{k:io}(z) - C_{i}^{b}(z) \right)$$
(3.1a)

$$\widetilde{d}_{ij}(z) = d_i(z) + E_{ij}^d(z) + \sum_{k \in N} E_{ik}^d(z) n_{k:ij}(z) + C_i^d(z)$$
(3.1b)

$$\widetilde{d}_{io}(z) = d_i(z) + \sum_{k \in N} E^d_{ik}(z) n_{k:io}(z) + C^d_i(z)$$
(3.1c)

$$\phi \,\widetilde{m}_i(z) = \phi \, m_i \tag{3.1d}$$

Notice that, for the sake of simplicity, we have assumed that the intrinsic dispersal rate  $m_i(z)$  of any focal individual was merely equal to the intrinsic dispersal rate. There is, however, no conceptual predicament entailed by extending the model and making dispersal conditional on the neighborhood composition (Rand, 1998).

Step 2. Averaging transition rates for anchored pairs over the lattice. Assuming that the lattice is homogeneous, we can take the intrinsic rates, the interaction effects and the costs of interaction to be independent of the location *z* of any focal individual, and set  $b(z) \equiv b$ ,  $d(z) \equiv d$ ,  $m(z) \equiv m$ ,  $E_{ij}^{b}(z) \equiv E_{ij}^{b}$ ,  $E_{ij}^{d}(z) \equiv E_{ij}^{d}$ ,  $C_{i}^{b}(z) \equiv C_{i}^{b}$  and  $C_{i}^{d}(z) \equiv C_{i}^{d}$ .

Transition rates for anchored pairs given by equations (3.1) are still influenced by the local configurations of the lattice, through the neighborhood-structure terms  $n_{kii}(z)$ , which depend on the location z. Local fluctuations caused by demographic stochasticity induce spatial variations in the neighborhood structure. If we would know at any time the state of every site z, then we could calculate each  $n_{k:ij}(z)$  and obtain all transition probabilities for each anchored pair. However, the large number of sites makes this endeavor hopeless. Instead, we aim at deriving average transition rates for anchored pairs across the lattice. We first compute an average measure of the neighborhood structure,  $\overline{n}_{k:ij} = \sum n_{k:ij} \frac{z}{|i|}$ , calculated as the total number |i| of sites in state i becomes is very large; the sum is taken over all sites z that host a type i individual belonging to an (i, j) pair. Likewise, we define  $q_{k:ij}$  as the average proportion of sites in state k in the neighborhood of a site in state i within a (i, j) pair; in other words,  $q_{k:ij}$  is the conditional probability of having a site in state k in the vicinity of a site in state i, given that one of the latter's neighboring sites is in state j. Since a focal site in an anchored pair is connected to (n-1) sites outside that pair, we have  $\overline{n}_{k:ij} = (n-1)q_{k:ij}$ . This averaging procedure applied to all local pair-events rates, equations (3.1), eventually yields the following average rates:

$$\phi \overline{b}_{i} = \phi \left( b_{i} + \sum_{k \in N} E_{ik}^{b} \left( n - 1 \right) q_{k:io} - C_{i}^{b} \right)$$
(3.2a)

$$\overline{d}_{ij} = d_i + E_{ij}^d + \sum_{k \in N} E_{ik}^d (n-1) q_{k:ij} + C_i^d$$
(3.2b)

$$\overline{d}_{io} = d_i + \sum_{k \in N} E_{ik}^d (n-1) q_{k:io} + C_i^d$$
(3.2c)

$$\phi \,\overline{m_i} = \phi \,m_i \tag{3.2d}$$

*Step 3. Pair transition rates and equations for pair dynamics.* To compute the transition rates for all possible pairs, we have to complete the bookkeeping of all local pair events that may create or destroy any given pair, and use the average rates given by equations (3.2). This is done in Box 1 for one particular type of pair, in the case of a lattice where there are three possible states for a site: empty, or occupied by one of two types. Once all pair transition rates are available, it is straightforward to assemble a system of differential equations that govern the temporal dynamics of pair frequencies. It turns out that the combinations of rates that enter these equations can be simplified by making use of the following composite rates (van Baalen & Rand, 1998):

- $\alpha_{ij} = (1 \phi)(\overline{b_i} + \overline{m_i})q_{i:oj}$  is the rate at which type *i* enters a pair (o, j) with  $j \neq i$ ,
- $\beta_i = \phi \overline{b_i} + (1 \phi) (\overline{b_i} + \overline{m_i}) q_{i:oi}$  is the rate at which type *i* enters a pair (o, i),
- $\delta_{ij} = \overline{d}_{ij} + (1 \phi)\overline{m}_i q_{o:ij}$  is the rate of loss of type *i* from (i, j) pairs.

We shall refer to these equalities as equations (3.3a), (3.3b), and (3.3c), respectively. It is also convenient to introduce the auxiliary parameter  $\alpha'_{ij} = (1 - \phi)(\overline{b}_i + \overline{m}_i)$ .

#### **Box 1 – Derivation of pair dynamics**

We consider a dimorphic population with two types of individuals, x and y. We perform the bookkeeping of all possible transitions and their rates that may create or destroy (x, o) pairs. The frequency of this pair is affected by six potential events, which can be grasped easily by mere graphical depiction (Fig. B1; also see van Baalen & Rand, 1998). The rate of each transition is computed by summing the appropriate average rates of local pair events.



Figure B1. How local pair events affect the pair (x, o). (a) All possible transitions that may create and destroy the focal pair (in the middle). (b) An example of a local pair event showing how a pair (x, o) can be created from a pair (o, o): reproduction or dispersal occurs in an anchored pair that belongs to the neighborhood of one of the empty sites of the focal pair. This happens at rate  $\phi(\overline{b}_x + \overline{m}_x)$  for each of the  $(n-1)q_{xoo}$  possible anchored pairs under consideration.

Pairs (x, o) are created by:

- the transition from (o, o), as illustrated in Fig. B1. There are, on average,  $(n-1)q_{x:oo}$  anchored pairs (x, o) whose empty site belongs also to a pair (o, o); the empty pair (o, o) will be turned into an (x, o) pair by reproduction at the local pairevent rate  $\phi \overline{b}_x$ , and by dispersal at the rate  $\phi \overline{m}_x$ .
- the transition from (x, x), either due to death at rate  $\overline{d}_{xx}$  or to movement towards a neighboring site. In the latter case, there are  $(n-1)q_{o:xx}$  anchored pairs that may undergo the corresponding transition, each at an average local pair-event rate  $\phi \overline{m}_x$ .
- and the transition from (x, y), which is calculated in a similar way.
  - Pairs (x, o) are destroyed by:
- the transition to (o, o), due to death at rate  $\overline{d}_{xo}$  or to dispersal. Again, we calculate the number of anchored pairs where this transition may take place to be  $(n-1)q_{o:ox}$ , and for each of them the transition occurs at the rate  $\phi \overline{m}_x$ .

- the transition to (x, x), due to reproduction within this pair at rate  $\phi \overline{b}_x$  or to a reproduction or dispersal event involving an x neighbor. The latter transition involves  $(n-1)q_{xox}$  (x, o) anchored pairs, which are affected by a local birth event at rate  $\phi \overline{b}_x$  and by a local dispersal event at rate  $\phi \overline{m}_x$ .
- likewise, the transition to (x, y) involves  $(n-1)q_{y:ox}$  anchored pairs (y, o), undergoing local birth at rate  $\phi \overline{b}_y$  and local dispersal at rate  $\phi \overline{m}_y$ .

Collecting all these transition rates together, and using the notation  $\overline{\phi} = (n-1)\phi$ , we finally obtain the following rate of change for the pair frequency  $p_{xo}$ :

$$\frac{dp_{xo}}{dt} = (\overline{b}_x + \overline{m}_x)\overline{\phi} q_{x:oo} p_{oo} + (\overline{d}_{xx} + \overline{\phi} \overline{m}_x q_{o:xx})p_{xx} + (\overline{d}_{yx} + \overline{\phi} \overline{m}_y q_{o:yx})p_{xy} (B1.1) - (\phi \overline{b}_x + \overline{d}_{xo} + \overline{\phi} \overline{m}_x q_{o:xo} + \overline{\phi} (\overline{b}_x + \overline{m}_x)q_{x:ox} + \overline{\phi} (\overline{b}_y + \overline{m}_y)q_{y:ox})$$

Step 4. Closing the system. The equations for pair frequencies obtained at Step 3 involve the conditional probabilities  $q_{kij}$ . This implies that the system is not closed: The frequencies of pairs depend on the frequencies of triplets, and to avoid a cascade of dependency on even more complex configurations, the frequencies of configurations involved beyond pairs have to be approximated from the pairs. Finding an accurate approximation amounts to solving the "closure problem" posed by the dynamical system under concern.

The general form of such a *pair approximation* can be written as  $q_{ki}$ , the probability that there is a site in state k next to a site in state i, plus an error term capturing an estimation bias due to local fluctuations (Morris, 1997). Different pair approximations have been developed, reflecting different ways of correcting for the neighborhood structure (Matsuda et al., 1992; van Baalen, 2000), the lattice regularity (Morris, 1997), and the distribution of local fluctuations (Morris, 1997). Ad hoc corrections accounting for the population clustering pattern have also been proposed (Sato et al., 1994). In general, we can safely assume that an infinite random lattice, or a more regular lattice with weak aggregation, will produce a small bias. The standard pair-approximation (Matsuda *et al.*, 1992) precisely equals the bias to zero and therefore reads  $q_{k:ij} \cong q_{k:i}$ . It has been challenged against individual-based simulations in a number of models corresponding to various biological situations (Matsuda et al., 1992; Harada & Iwasa, 1994; Satō & Konno, 1995; Kubo et al., 1996; Nakamaru et al., 1997). The match is often very good, but sometimes devastatingly bad. In such cases, moving up the description level to the spatial scale of triplets can suffice to improve matters substantially (Morris, 1997). Sato et al. (1994), Harada et al. (1995), Ellner et al. (1998), Morris (1997), and van Baalen (2000) have investigated the alternative path of deriving better pair approximations.

Here, we shall content ourselves with the standard pair approximation and apply it to equations (3.2) and (3.3). This yields

$$\phi \overline{b}_i = \phi \left( b_i + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} E^b_{ik} (n-1) q_{k:i} - C^b_i \right)$$
(3.4a)

$$\overline{d}_{ij} = d_i + E_{ij}^d + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} E_{ik}^d (n-1) q_{k:ij} + C_i^d$$
(3.4b)

$$\overline{d}_{io} = d_i + \sum_{k \in N} E^d_{ik} (n-1) q_{ki} + C^d_i , \qquad (3.4c)$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{ij} = (1 - \phi) (\overline{b}_i + \overline{m}_i) \boldsymbol{q}_{i:o} = \boldsymbol{\alpha}_i$$
(3.5a)

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}_{i} = \boldsymbol{\phi} \overline{b}_{i} + (1 - \boldsymbol{\phi}) (\overline{b}_{i} + \overline{m}_{i}) \boldsymbol{q}_{i:o}$$
(3.5b)

$$\delta_{ij} = d_{ij} + (1 - \phi)\overline{m}_i \ q_{oi} \tag{3.5c}$$

One can insert these approximate expressions into the system of differential equations for pair frequencies written with exact pair transition rates; see equation (B1.1). If there is a single phenotype x in the population (resident phenotype), the dynamics of pairs obey the following system of so-called *correlation equations* (Rand 1998):

$$\begin{pmatrix} dp_{ox}/dt \\ dp_{xx}/dt \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha'_{x} & q_{oxo} - (\beta_{x} + \delta_{xo}) & \delta_{xx} \\ 2\beta_{x} & -2\delta_{xx} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p_{ox} \\ p_{xx} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.6)

The equilibrium state of the population, fully characterized by  $q_{o:x}$  and  $q_{o:o}$ , may then be found by solving the system  $dp_{ox}/dt = 0$  and  $dp_{xx}/dt = 0$ .

#### Spatial invasion fitness

We now have the modeling machinery in place to tackle the calculation of invasion fitness, that is, a measure of the population growth rate of a mutant (phenotype y) introduced at low frequency in the resident population where only phenotype x is present. When two strategies x and y are represented in the population, there are six possible types of pairs. A simple bookkeeping procedure is applied to all possible transitions of these pairs, and the rates defined by equations (3.3) are used to construct a system of correlation equations (3.7):

$$\begin{pmatrix} dp_{ox}/dt \\ dp_{xx}/dt \\ dp_{yx}/dt \\ dp_{yy}/dt \\ dp_{yy}/dt \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{x} \ q_{oxo} - \left(\beta_{x} + \alpha_{y} + \delta_{xo}\right) \ \delta_{xx} & 0 & \delta_{yx} & 0 \\ 2\beta_{x} & -2\delta_{xx} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \alpha_{y} \ q_{oxo} - \left(\beta_{y} + \alpha_{y} \ q_{yxo} + \delta_{xo}\right) \ \delta_{xy} & \delta_{yy} \\ 0 & 0 & \alpha_{x} + \alpha_{y} \ q_{xxo} & -(\delta_{xy} + \delta_{yx}) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2\beta_{y} & 0 & -2\delta_{yy} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p_{ox} \\ p_{ox} \\ p_{oy} \\ p_{yy} \end{pmatrix}$$

The mutant rate of growth, denoted by s(y, x), can be obtained by summing up the last three equations of system (3.5):

## Box 2. A numerical recipe to compute spatial invasion fitness in lattice models

The expression of mutant population growth rate depends on the spatial statistics  $q_{o:y}$ ,  $q_{x:y}$ , and  $q_{y:y}$ , which a priori vary over time. Yet the so-called *relaxation property* of the system entails that the statistics  $q_{o:y}$ ,  $q_{x:y}$ , and  $q_{y:y}$  converge very fast to equilibrium values, compared to the slow growth or decline of the system variables  $p_{oy}$ ,  $p_{xy}$ , and  $p_{yy}$  (Matsuda *et al.* 1992, our simulations). Therefore, to obtain a measure of spatial invasion fitness, we may write an auxiliary system of differential equations for the variables  $q_{o:y}$ ,  $q_{x:y}$ , and  $q_{y:y}$  only, solve it for equilibrium, and insert the result into equation (4.1).

The numerical derivation of this auxiliary system relies on the initial rarity of the mutant in the resident population. This, by definition, means:  $q_{y:o} = 0$ . This property allows us to write a closed model for the mutant pair dynamics, using the 3×3 lower-right block **M** of the transition matrix which appears in equation (3.5):

$$\frac{d\vec{p}_{y}}{dt} = \mathbf{M}(\vec{q}_{y})\vec{p}_{y} \text{ with } \vec{p}_{y} = (p_{oy}, p_{xy}, p_{yy})$$
(B2-1)

Using the relations  $dp_y/dt = s(y, x)p_y$  and  $\vec{p}_y = p_y\vec{q}_y$ , we can further transform this system into

$$\frac{d\dot{q}_{y}}{dt} = \left[\mathbf{M}(\vec{q}_{y}) - s(y, x)\mathbf{I}\right]\vec{q}_{y}$$
(B2-2)

(I is the 3×3 identity matrix.) At equilibrium,  $d\vec{q}_y/dt = 0$ , and the spatial statistics  $\vec{q}_y$  are obtained by solving (numerically, or analytically in the simplest cases) the nonlinear system  $M(\vec{q}_y)\vec{q}_y = \lambda \vec{q}_y$ , which involves four unknowns  $(q_{o:y}, q_{x:y}, q_{y:y})$ , and the corresponding eigenvalue ) and three equations, along with the constraint  $q_{o:y} = 1 - q_{x:y} - q_{y:y}$ . Solving for \_ at the same time yields numerical value of the spatial invasion fitness s(y, x) (4.1).

$$\frac{dp_{y}}{dt} = \frac{dp_{oy}}{dt} + \frac{dp_{xy}}{dt} + \frac{dp_{yy}}{dt} = s(y, x)p_{y}$$
(3.8)

which, after some algebra, simplifies into:

$$s(y,x) = \overline{b}_{y}q_{o:y} - \overline{d}_{y}$$
(3.9)

where

$$\overline{b}_{y} = b_{y} + (n-1)E_{yx}^{b}q_{x:y} + (n-1)E_{yy}^{b}q_{y:y} - C_{y}^{b}$$
(3.10)

$$\overline{d}_{y} = d_{y} + nE_{yx}^{d}q_{xy} + nE_{yy}^{d}q_{yy} + C_{y}^{d}$$
(3.11)

Rearranging terms, we obtain the final expression:

$$s(y,x) = \left[ \left( b_{y} - C_{y}^{b} \right) q_{o:y} - d_{y} - C_{y}^{d} \right] + \left[ (n-1) E_{yx}^{b} q_{o:y} - n E_{yx}^{d} \right] q_{x:y} + \left[ (n-1) E_{yy}^{b} q_{o:y} - n E_{yy}^{d} \right] q_{y:y}$$
(3.12)

This expression bears an interesting relationship to the notion of *direct* or *neighbor-modulated fitness* (Hamilton, 1970; Frank, 1998). Direct fitness is defined by summing the fitness effects on an individual caused by all the phenotypes of neighbors (including the individual itself). Likewise, spatial invasion fitness is obtained by adding the effects on a focal mutant of a resident or mutant neighbor, weighted by the probability that the focal individual is neighbored by a resident or a mutant individual.

Further analysis based on spatial invasion fitness as defined by (3.12) requires that we solve equation (3.7) for  $q_{y:y}$ ,  $q_{x:y}$ , and  $q_{o:y}$ . This can be done numerically by following the algorithmic recipe outlined in Box 2, or even analytically in the simplest cases (Matsuda *et al.*, 1992).

#### 4. Application: coadaptation of dispersal and altruism

Empirical work has stressed the importance of spatial structure and spatial processes for the evolution of dispersal (Hanski, *this volume*; Ims and Hjermann, *id.*; Ronce *et al.*, *ibid.*). Coadaptation of other life-history components is also expected to have a decisive influence on the evolution of dispersal, because of physiological and/or genetic correlations (Ronce *et al.*, *this volume*; Roff & Fairbairn, *id.*) or behavioral alternatives (see Lambin *et al.*, *this volume*, for a discussion of the joint adaptation of dispersal, competition, and cooperation). There is an urgent need for theory to incorporate these empirical facts.

The purpose of this section is to take a step forward in that direction. We make use of the framework of lattice population models to investigate the joint evolution of dispersal and social behavior, while accounting explicitly for local interaction and dispersal processes. More specifically, our main objectives are (i) to identify selective pressures acting on these traits, (ii) to make predictions about their relative effects on the direction of evolution, and (iii) to relate them quantitatively to basic individual and interaction traits. The material presented here provides a short review of analyses expounded in Le Galliard (1999), Le Galliard *et al.* (*in prep.*), and Ferrière and Le Galliard (*in prep.*).

#### Model assumptions

We focus on two adaptive components of the individual's phenotype: dispersal and altruism (Table 2). The former trait is measured by the dispersal rate m. The altruistic trait is measured by the total investment in altruism u and the amount u/n of help an actor individual may distribute over its neighborhood. This amount additively affects any recipient's intrinsic birth rate. Note that this is a simplified description of altruism, because individuals will have a total potential amount u to give and will always give the same amount of help per neighbor, whatever the number of receivers. In the biological realm, this would mean the absence of any kind of strategical distribution of altruism.

#### Table 1. Variables and parameters of the lattice model

- *N* set of all phenotypes present in the population
- *z* generic notation for the location of a site in the graph
- i, j, k generic notations for different site states
- $p_i$  frequency of sites in state *i* among all sites (*site frequency*)
- $p_{ii}$  frequency of (i, j) pairs among all pairs of sites (*pair frequency*)
- $q_{i:j}$  probability that, next to a site in state *j*, there is a site in state *i* (aggregation coefficient)
- $q_{i:jk}$  probability that, next to a site in state j in a (j,k) pair, there is a site in state i
- *n* number of neighboring sites to any given site (constant)

 $n_{k;i}(z)$  number of sites in state k in the neighborhood of a type i at site z, in a (i, j) pair

- $\phi$  probability of randomly generating a connection with[or "probability of making a connection at random with", or "random probability of..."] all sites which could potentially be connected to that site ( $\phi = 1/n$ ).
- $b_i(z)$  intrinsic per capita birth rate at location z
- $d_i(z)$  intrinsic per capita death rate at location z
- $m_i(z)$  intrinsic per capita dispersal rate of type *i* at location z
- $E_{ij}^{b}(z)$  additive effect (competition, cooperation) on the per capita birth rate of a type *i* individual located at *z*, induced by interaction with a type *j* individual located in the neighborhood
- $E_{ij}^{d}(z)$  additive effect (competition, cooperation) on the per capita death rate of a type *i* individual located at *z*, induced by interaction with a type *j* individual located in the neighborhood
- $C_i^b(z)$  cost of type *i* strategy, decreasing the birth rate of a type *i* individual located at *z*
- $C_i^d(z)$  cost of type *i* strategy, decreasing the death rate of a type *i* individual located at *z*

Both traits are costly to the bearer. A linear model for the cost of dispersal m is assumed, whereas the cost of altruism scales algebraically with the amount of total investment u (Table 2). The total cost is substracted from the intrinsic birth rate. The costs of dispersal and altruism are paid unconditionally, irrespective of the movement actually performed by the individual and the average amount of help actually given to the neighborhood. A representative biological instance would be an organism where both dispersal and altruism imply an initial ontogenetic shift towards a fixed physiological or morphological state that would determine the individual lifetime investment of dispersal and altruism. This state would permanently impact the birth rate. An example of this might be the case of a dispersal structure (O'Riain *et al.*, 1996).

#### Table 2. Specific variables and parameters of the model

- *b* intrinsic per capita birth rate (b=2.0)
- d intrinsic per capita death rate (d=1.0)
- *m* intrinsic per capita dispersal rate (*adaptive trait*)
- *u* intrinsic per capita altruism rate (*adaptive trait*)
- $\kappa u^{\gamma}$  cost of altruism, decreasing the birth rate
- vm cost of disperal, decreasing the birth rate

Starting from the general model presented in section 3, we make two simplifying assumptions on our way to derive the measure of spatial invasion fitness: the intrinsic birth and death rates are independent of the phenotype, and costs and benefits impact the birth rate only.

Referring to notations introduced in Table 1, this means:  $b_i \equiv b$ ,  $d_i \equiv d$ ,  $E_{ij}^d \equiv 0$ ,  $C_i^d \equiv 0$ . We use the notation C(u,m) to designate the total cost associated with altruism u and dispersal rate m,  $C(u,m) = \kappa u^{\gamma} + \nu m$  (Table 2). Parameters  $\kappa$  and  $\nu$  measure the sensitivity of the costs of altruism and dispersal. The parameter  $\gamma$  further indicates how the sensitivity of the cost of altruism varies with the degree of altruism. A high value of  $\gamma$  means that the cost of altruism increases slowly with the degree of altruism when the degree of altruism is low, and becomes more sensitive to altruism as the degree of altruism increases.

#### Adaptive dynamics of dispersal and altruism

Spatial invasion fitness s follows from the general model of equation (3.10) and is given here by

$$s = \left(b + u(1 - \phi)q_{x:y} + u'(1 - \phi)q_{y:y} - C(u', m')\right)q_{o:y} - d$$
(4.1)

where x = (u, m) denotes the resident phenotype; y = (u', m'), the mutant phenotype. The canonical equation (2.5) reads

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ m \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \eta \cdot \frac{\sigma^2}{2} \cdot p_x \cdot \frac{\partial s}{\partial u'} \Big|_{u'=u} \\ \eta \cdot \frac{\sigma^2}{2} \cdot p_x \cdot \frac{\partial s}{\partial m'} \Big|_{m'=m} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.2)

where  $\eta$  and  $\sigma^2$ , respectively, denote the mutation rate and the mutation step variance, which we assume to be the same for both traits and independent of the current phenotypic mean. Making use of the facts that the resident population is at equilibrium and that the mutant is little different from the resident, a first-order approximation of spatial invasion fitness reads

$$s/q_{o:y} \cong \left[ d/q_{o:x}^2 - (1-\phi)u \right] (q_{o:y} - q_{o:x}) + (1-\phi)q_{y:y} (u'-u) - \left[ C(u',m') - C(u,m) \right] (4.3)$$



**Figure 3.** Pairwise invasibility plots when either the altruism trait or the dispersal trait is fixed. Spatial invasion fitness (see equation [4.1]) is positive in the grey region. (a) Evolution of dispersal for fixed altruism (u = 0.1). (b) Evolution of altruism for fixed dispersal (m = 0.5). In both cases, there is a unique evolutionary singularity which is attracting and evolutionarily stable. Parameter values: n = 4, b = 2.0, d = 1.0,  $\gamma = 2.0$ ,  $\kappa = 1.0$ ,  $\nu = 0.1$ .

(see Ferrière & Le Galliard, *in prep.*, for details). This expression clearly identifies three components of selection operating on dispersal and altruism. The first term in the right-hand side of equation (4.3) quantifies the pressure for opening free space in an individual's neighborhood. It is stronger under more crowded conditions (*i.e.*, when  $q_{ox}$  is low), and increases with the intrinsic death rate d: When mortality is low, there is little selective advantage to be gained from opening space by reducing altruism or increasing dispersal. Also, this pressure is opposed if the resident degree of altruism, *u*, is sufficiently high, since then it pays off to interact with more neighbors, regardless of their altruism phenotype (resident or mutant). The second term in equation (4.3)



**Figure 4**. Co-adaptive dynamics of dispersal and altruism. Predictions from the canonical equation (4.2). Thin lines are evolutionary isoclines. The four thick lines are examples of evolutionary trajectories, starting from four different ancestral states. The crossing point of the isoclines gives the singularity, which is attracting and evolutionarily stable. Parameter values: same as in Fig. 3.

expresses the pressure for increased altruism; it is stronger under more aggregated mutant conditions. The third term measures the pressure for reducing the direct costs of dispersal and altruism. By following the numerical recipe for the calculation of aggregation coefficients and spatial invasion fitness (Box 2), one can obtain explicit analytical expressions for  $q_{y:y}$  and  $q_{o:y}$ . It is thus possible to write each component of selection as a function of individual parameters.

In general, when the evolution of one trait alone is considered, the adaptive dynamics of the trait are monotonous and converge to a point attractor. This attractive point corresponds to a singularity of the adaptive dynamic, that is, a point where the selection derivative vanishes. A mutant appearing around this phenotype value is actually counterselected and cannot invade (Fig. 3). The pattern of stabilizing selection is well explained by the relative effects of conflicting pressures. Focusing on the case of dispersal, we can see that at low dispersal, the predominant selective pressure is induced by local competition for space; reduced aggregation is favored, and this selects for higher dispersal rates. As dispersal increases the intensity of the opposed selective pressure induced by the cost of dispersal also raises. An intermediate equilibrium value is reached at which both pressures exactly compensate each other. Numerical analysis of the dispersal rate at this attractor suggest that its value is mainly sensitive to the parameter  $\nu$ , which scales the cost of dispersal.



**Figure 5**. (a) Zero-contour lines of the components of selection along adaptive trajectories. In each of the six delineated regions, positive pressures are indicated. Component I: pressure for reducing local competition for space; component II: pressure for increased altruism under aggregated conditions; component III: pressure for reducing the direct costs of dispersal and altruism. (b) Spatial aggregation, shown as a contour plot of the aggregation coefficient  $q_{x:x}$  for a pure population of phenotype x. Parameter values: same as in Fig. 3.

We now consider the coadaptive dynamics of dispersal and altruism. The selective gradient respective to either trait vanishes along the corresponding isocline (Fig. 4), which is the set of evolutionary singularities obtained for this trait, for each possible value of the other trait. Both isoclines cross at the singularity of the coadaptive dynamics, denoted by  $(m^*, u^*)$ .

When the cost of altruism is high and very sensitive to a change in the degree of altruism, the singularity is always a stable node (Le Galliard *et al.*, in prep.). The dispersal rate still converges monotonously to the singularity, but explaining the adaptive dynamics in the two-dimensional trait space now requires that we consider how the three selective pressures interplay. This can be done by identifying the sign of each selection component evaluated locally in the direction of adaptation (Fig. 5). For example, one can interpret the four trajectories (1-4) depicted in Fig. 4 in this way: (1) Starting from low dispersal and low altruism, mutants that invest more in altruism and

dispersal are initially favored (selection components I and II are positive); being more altruistic is advantageous because the level of aggregation is high; being slightly more mobile is also beneficial for it yields more free space in one's neighborhood. In a second phase of the dynamics, mutants dispersing more are selected for (selective component I is positive); this reduces spatial aggregation and therefore promotes invasion by less altruistic phenotypes. (2) Initially, dispersal is low and altruism is high. Only the first phase of the adaptive dynamics differs: Here, the adaptive dynamics begin with the reduction of the cost of altruism and the reduction of local competition for space (components III and I are positive). (3) Starting with a high dispersal-low altruism phenotype, selection favors an increase in altruism and a decrease in dispersal: At low altruism, mutants with lower dispersal rates pay a significantly reduced cost (component III is positive), and the benefit of more altruism in a population that develops more aggregation dominates the cost of increased local competition (component II is positive). (4) Finally, when ancestral dispersal and altruism are high, the selective pressure for reduced costs dominates (component III is positive) and drives the system all the way down to the singularity where both traits stabilize.

#### **Revisiting Hamilton's Rule**

Hamilton (1964) formulated his famous rule according to which, if an actor expresses a behavior that costs him C offspring and increases by B the number of individuals related to the actor, this behavior is selected for if  $B \ r > C$ . There has been much debate over the interpretation of the fitness costs C, benefits B, and relatedness r which make Hamilton's rule work, and by which this rule can be generalized for more complex ecological scenarios.

Defining and measuring relatedness in spatially structured populations is a longstanding problem of population genetics (Malécot, 1948; Rousset & Billiard, *manuscript*). The spatial invasion condition provides a natural definition of relatedness as a measure of phenotypic correlation between neighbors (Frank, 1998; van Baalen & Rand, 1998). When altruistic and selfish individuals are identical in their basic demographic rates (b, d, and m), altruists with phenotype y = (u', m) can invade non-altruists with phenotype x = (0, m) if

$$u' \cdot (1 - \phi) \cdot q_{vvv} > \kappa \cdot u'^{\gamma} \tag{4.4}$$

that is, we have recovered a variant of Hamilton's rule in which  $B \equiv (1-\phi)u'$ , =  $\kappa \cdot u'^{\gamma}$ , and the coefficient of relatedness *r* is given by

 $r = q_{y:y} \tag{4.5}$ 

As already mentioned,  $q_{y:y}$ , and therefore *r*, can be computed from the invasion matrix (Box 2). This coefficient *r* estimates how much of an altruist's environment consists of other altruists, an interpretation that is consistent with Day & Taylor (1998). The precise interpretation of *B*, *C*, and *r* in Hamilton's rule, however, is dependent on the details of demographic processes operating in the population. For example, van Baalen and Rand (1998) note that if the cost of altruism is incurred as an increased mortality rate instead of a decreased birth rate, for zero dispersal the invasion condition of altruists in a selfish population becomes

$$u' \cdot (1-\phi) \cdot q_{vvv} > (b/d) \cdot \kappa \cdot u'^{\gamma}.$$

$$\tag{4.6}$$

This provides another version of the Hamilton's rule where the cost C is recovered as the cost of altruism corrected for intrinsic birth and death rates. Other variants of the spatial Hamilton's rule, where relatedness similarly depends on local demographic processes, have been established by Ferrière & Michod (1995, 1996) for the invasion of cooperation in a spatial iterated Prisoner's Dilemma.

How kin selection models handle relatedness is usually problematic (Day & Taylor, 1998; Rousset & Billiard, *manuscript*). This is not to suggest that kin selection is not the ultimate cause of the evolution of altruism in viscous populations, as Hamilton originally asserted it is (1964), but that measuring inclusive fitness as defined in kin selection models may not correctly predict the evolutionary dynamics of social traits when selection is density-dependent. Using spatial invasion fitness, Hamilton's principle is recovered as an emergent property of the model. This backs up Nunney's (1985) statement that group selection acts when there is positive preferential association of common phenotypes, but that kin selection is the only form of group selection that is able to maintain altruism.

#### Does spatial invasion fitness rightly predict evolutionary dynamics?

Although our coevolutionary model of dispersal and altruism incorporates salient features of the ecological and evolutionary processes (including density-dependence, demographic stochasticity, and evolutionary feedback), it remains underpinned by several critical simplifications. We assume an infinite lattice size, and describe the dynamics of local densities by making use of the standard pair approximation (Morris, 1997). The derivation of the fitness measure relies on the small frequency of mutants when they appear and on the relaxation approximation that they instantaneously build up a characteristic invasion structure that may serve as a vehicle for their potential spread (Dieckmann & Law, 2000). Furthermore, the deterministic description of the adaptive dynamics gives an approximation for the mean path of the stochastic mutation selection process (Dieckmann & Law, 1996), which itself already entails averaging over an infinite number of realizations.

Notwithstanding all this, the properties of stochastic simulations are remarkably well captured by the deterministic predictions (Fig. 6; see Le Galliard *et al.*, *in prep.*, for a more thorough comparison). The positions of the isoclines and the attracting singularity  $(m^*, u^*)$  remain nearly unchanged. Overall trends of stochastic trajectories are correctly predicted by the deterministic model. Wilder fluctuations in trait values, involving the repeated rise and fall of altruism, are observed nearer to the singularity, as the selection gradient tends to weaken there. In our case, these complex regimes in the degree of altruism, which have received some attention elsewhere (Doebeli & Knowlton, 1999), are best explained by genetic drift in regions of low selection pressure across the phenotypic space.



(b)

**Figure 6**. Mean trajectory of ten individual-based simulations of dispersal and altruism evolutionary dynamics. Thick grey lines are isoclines predicted by the canonical equation (4.2) (see Fig. 4). Black squares indicate initial states. (a) Simulations of two trajectories starting at (m, u) = (0, 0) and (m, u) = (3, 0.14), respectively. (b) Simulations of two trajectories starting at (m, u) = (0.5, 0.14) and (m, u) = (3.5, 0.0), respectively. The stochastic trajectories, although rather jerky near the convergence state at the isoclines intercept (open circles), hit rather close to it (black circles) after following closely the deterministic path predicted by spatial invasion fitness (see Fig. 4). For both traits, the mutation rate is  $10^{-2}$  and the mutation variance is  $10^{-2}$ . Time at the end of simulations: 500,000 time units. Lattice size: 900 sites.

### 5. Concluding Remarks

Defining invasion fitness for spatial ecologies is no trivial matter. Starting from demographic and behavioral processes operating at the individual level and locally between close neighbors, the invasion exponent of a simple system of correlation equations for the dynamics of a mutant population provides a tractable solution to this problem. The notion of spatial invasion fitness allows one to *derive*, rather than postulate, an explicit relationship between distinct components of selection on the one hand, and the characteristics of the individuals and their interactions on the other. Numerical simulations of individual-based models confirm that the resulting spatial invasion fitness correctly predicts the dynamics of the stochastic mutation-selection process. On the empirical side, Rainey and Travisano's (1998) experiments on the evolution of polymorphism in bacteria have shown that invasion fitness measured in spatially heterogeneous populations successfully predicts the maintenance of morph diversity. In contrast, the destruction of local structures developed in the course of population growth alters the phenotypes' invasion fitnesses and modifies the eventual phenotypic composition of the population.

The mathematical derivation of spatial invasion fitness proceeds by averaging over space the transition rates of pairs. This amounts to looking at the local structure of the mutant population as homogeneously replicated across the whole (infinite) lattice. The non-homogeneous distribution of the pairs containing mutants, induced by the finite size of the mutant population and the non-typical clustering pattern that may develop at the earliest stage of invasion, may also require us to incorporate correction terms to our measure of spatial invasion fitness. There may be an interesting parallel to be drawn with the theory of evolutionary games in continuous space. In this context, the initial clustering of mutants entails that fitness should be defined not from space averages of individual traits, but as the speed at which the front of a mutant cluster moves forward and propagates mutants through space (Hutson & Vickers, 1992; Ferrière & Michod, 1995, 1996; Ellner *et al.* 1998).

We have used the notion of spatial invasion fitness to model the joint adaptive dynamics of dispersal and altruism. Even without further corrections for more subtle spatial effects, spatial invasion fitness appears to give very consistent predictions on how these two behavioral traits coevolve. The analysis of this particular model underlines three important and general achievements of adaptive dynamics based on the notion of spatial invasion fitness. First, it unravels the interplay of the ecological (spatial) dynamics of a population and the evolutionary dynamics of the individual traits. Spatial self-structuring shapes the selective pressures, which in return may alter the aggregation pattern. Here we have seen that a high degree of spatial aggregation is not a prerequisite for, but rather a consequence of, the joint evolution of altruism and dispersal. Second, this analysis underlines important transient effects. A state of high dispersal or high altruism may be maintained transitorily, up to the point where the direction of selection changes or even reverts. In general, this means that variations, under the same environmental conditions and for the same species, of adaptive traits may be explained by different ancestral states and by the observation of populations at different points in time in their evolutionary history. Finally, this approach allows us to separate out distinct components of the selective regime and to express these components in terms of individual traits and characteristics of the population aggregation structure. In practice, there is potential here to predict how the selective pressures should equilibrate to produce patterns observed empirically, and how dispersal-related traits may respond to the experimental manipulation of each component of the selective regime.

#### References

- Bolker B.M., Pacala S.W. 1999. Spatial moment for plant competition: understanding spatial strategies and the advantages of short dispersal. Am. Nat. 153:575-602.
- Caswell H. 1989. Matrix Population Models. Sinauer, Sunderland, MA.
- Day T., Taylor P.D. 1998. Unifying genetic and game theoretic models of kin selection for continuous traits. J. Theor. Biol. 194: 391-407.
- Dieckmann U., Law R. 1996. The dynamical theory of coevolution : a derivation form stochastic ecological processes. J. Math. Biol. 34:579-612.
- Dieckmann U., Law R. 2000. Relaxation projections and the method of moments. in *The geometry of ecological interactions: simplifying spatial complexity* (Dieckmann U., Law R., Metz J.A.J. eds.). Cambridge University Press.
- Dieckmann U., Law R., Metz J.A.J. 2000. *The geometry of ecological interactions: simplifying spatial complexity*. Cambridge University Press.
- Doebeli M., Knowlton N. 1998. The evolution of interspecific mutualisms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:8676-8680.
- Durrett R., Levin S. 1994. The importance of being discrete (and spatial). Theor. Pop. Biol. 46:363-394.
- Ellner S.P., Sasaki A., Haraguchi Y., Matsuda H. 1998. Speed of invasion in lattice population models: pair-edge approximation. J. Math. Biol. 36:469-484.
- Ferrière R., Clobert J. 1992. Evolutionarily stable age at first reproduction in a densitydependent model. J. Theor. Biol. 157:253-267.
- Ferrière R., Gatto M. 1995. Lyapunov exponents and the mathematics of invasion in oscillatory or chaotic populations. Theor. Pop. Biol. 48:126-171.
- Ferrière R., Michod R.E. 1995. Invading wave of cooperation in a spatial iterated prisoner's dilemma. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. B 259:77-83.
- Ferrière R., Michod R.E. 1996. The evolution of cooperation in spatially heterogeneous populations. Am. Nat. 147(5):692-717.
- Ferrière R., Belthoff J.R., Olivieri I., Krackow S. 2000. Evolving dispersal : where to go next? Trends Ecol. Evol. 15 : 5-7.
- Ferrière R., Le Galliard J.F. Cooperation and mobility : adaptive reversals and population suicide. *Manuscript in preparation*.
- Frank S.A. 1998. Foundations of social evolution. Princeton Univ. Press.
- Geritz S.A.H., Metz J.A.J., Kisdi E., Meszéna G. 1997. The dynamics of adaptation and evolutionary branching. Phys. Rev. Lett. 78 : 2024-2027.

- Geritz S.A.H., Kisdi E., Meszena G., Metz J.A.J. 1998. Evolutionary singular strategies and the adaptive growth and branching of the evolutionary tree. Evol. Ecol. 12:35-37.
- Grafen A. 1979. The hawk-dove game played between relatives. Animal Behavior 27:905-907.
- Hamilton W.D. 1964. The genetical evolution of social behaviour I, II. J. Theor. Biol. 7:1-52.
- Hamilton W.D., May R.M. 1977. Dispersal in stable habitat. Nature 269:578-581.
- Hanski I., Gilpin M.E. 1992. *Metapopulation biology. Ecology, genetics and evolution.* Academic Press.
- Hanski I. 1999. Metapopulation ecology. Oxford University Press.
- Hanski I. 2000. Population dynamic consequences of dispersal in local populations and in metapopulations. In *Causes, consequences and mechanisms of dispersal at the individual, population and community level.* (Clobert J., Nichols J.D., Danchin E., Dhondt A. eds.). Oxford University Press.
- Harada Y., Iwasa Y. 1994. Lattice population-dynamics for plants with dispersing seeds and vegetative reproduction. Res. Pop. Ecol. 36:237-249.
- Harada Y., Ezoe H., Iwasa Y., Matsuda H., Satō K. 1995. Population persistence and spatially limited social interaction. Theor. Pop. Biol. 48:65-91.
- Hutson V., Vickers G.T. 1992. Travelling waves and dominance ESSs. Journal of Mathematical Biology 30:457-471.
- Ims R.A., Hjermann D. 2000. Condition dependent dispersal. In *Causes, consequences and mechanisms of dispersal at the individual, population and community level.* (Clobert J., Nichols J.D., Danchin E., Dhondt A. eds.). Oxford University Press.
- Keeling M.J. 1996. *The ecology and evolution of spatial host-parasite systems*. PhD Thesis. University of Warwick, Coventry.
- Kendall D.G. 1948. On the role of variable generation time in the development of a stochastic process. Biometrika 35 : 316-330.
- Kimura M. 1953. 'Stepping stone' model of population. Ann. Rep. Natl. Inst. Gen., Japan, 3 : 62-63.
- Kingman, J.F.C. 1969. Markov population processes. J. Appl. Prob. 6 : 1-18.
- Kubo T., Iwasa Y., Furumoto N. 1996. Forest spatial dynamics with gap expansion: Total gap area and gap size distribution. J. theor. Biol. 180 : 229-246.
- Lambin X., Aars J., Piertney S.B. 2000. Intraspecific competition, kin competition and kin facilitation: a review of the empirical evidence. In *Causes, consequences and mechanisms of dispersal at the individual, population and community level.* (Clobert J., Nichols J.D., Danchin E., Dhondt A. eds.). Oxford University Press.
- Le Galliard J.F. 1999. Local competition, cooperation and mobility. A theoretical and experimental approach. Unpublished Masters thesis, University of Paris VI. 39 p.

- Le Galliard J.F., Ferrière R., Dieckmann U. Invasion fitness and the adaptive dynamics of altruism in spatially heterogeneous populations. *Manuscript in preparation*.
- Le Galliard J.F., Ferrière R., Dieckmann U. The coevolutionary dynamics of altruism and dispersal. *Manuscript in preparation*.
- Levins R. 1969. Some demographic and genetic consequences of environmental heterogeneity for biological control. Bull. Entomol. Soc. Am. 15:237-240.
- Malécot G. 1948. Les mathématiques de l'hérédité. Masson, Paris.
- Malécot G. 1975. Heterozygosity and relationship in regurlarly subdivided populations. Theor. Pop. Biol. 8:212-241.
- Marrow P., Law R., Cannings C. 1992. The coevolution of predator-prey interactions : ESSs and Red Queen dynamics. Proc. Roy. Soc. London B 250:133-141.
- Matsuda H., Ogita N., Sasaki A., Sato K. 1992. Statistical mechanics of population: the lattice Lotka-Volterra model. Progress in Theoretical Physics. 88(6):1035-1049.
- Metz J.A.J., Nisbet R.M., Geritz S.A.H. 1992. How should we define fitness for general ecological scenarios ? TREE 7(6):198-202.
- Metz J.A.J., Geritz S.A.H., Meszéna G., Jacobs F.J.A., van Heerwaarden J.S. 1996. Adaptive dynamics, a geometrical study of the consequences of nearly faithful reproduction. pp. 183-231 in *Stochastic and spatial structures of dynamical systems* (van Strien S.J., Verduyn Lunel S.M. eds). North Holland, Amsterdam.
- Metz J.A.J., Gyllenberg, M. *in press*. How should we define fitness in structured metapopulation models? Including an application to the calculation of ES dispersal strategies.
- Morris, A.J. 1997. Representing spatial interactions in simple ecological models. Unpublished PhD thesis. University of Warwick, Coventry. 176 p.
- Nakamaru M., Matsuda H., Iwasa Y. 1997. The evolution of cooperation in a latticestructured population. J. Theor. Biol. 184:65-81.
- Nunney L. 1985. Group selection, altruism and structured-deme models. Am. Nat. 126:212-230.
- Okubo A. 1980. Diffusion and ecological problems: mathematical models. Berlin, Germany. Springer.
- Olivieri I., Michalakis Y., Gouyon P.H. 1995. Metapopulation genetics and the evolution of dispersal. Am. Nat. 146:202-228.
- O'Riain J.M., Jarvis J.U.M., Faulkes C.G. 1996. A dispersive morph in the naked molerat. Nature 380: 619-621.
- Perrin N., Goudet J. 2000. Inbreeding, kinship and the evolution of natal dispersal. In *Causes, consequences and mechanisms of dispersal at the individual, population and community level.* (Clobert J., Nichols J.D., Danchin E., Dhondt A. eds.). Oxford University Press.
- Rainey P.B., Travisano M. 1998. Adaptative radiations in a heterogenous environment. Nature 394:69-72.

- Rand D.A. 1998. Correlation equations and pair-approximations for spatial ecologies. in *Advanced Ecological Theory: advances in principles and appl*ications (Mc Clade J.M. ed.). Oxford, Blackwell.
- Renshaw E. 1986. A survey of stepping-stone models in population dynamics. Adv. Appl. Prob. 18:581-627.
- Renshaw E. 1991. *Modelling biological populations in space and time*. Cambridge Studies in Mathematical Biology.
- Roff D.A., Fairbairn D.J. 2000. The genetic basis of dispersal and migration and its consequence for the evolution of correlated traits. In *Causes, consequences and mechanisms of dispersal at the individual, population and community level.* (Clobert J., Nichols J.D., Danchin E., Dhondt A. eds.). Oxford University Press.
- Ronce O. 1999. Histoires de vie dans un habitat fragmenté: Etude théorique de la dispersion et d'autres traits. Unpublished PhD thesis. University of Montpellier.
- Ronce O., Clobert J., Olivieri I., Danchin E. 2000. Perspectives for the study of dispersal evolution. in *Causes, consequences and mechanisms of dispersal at the individual, population and community level.* (Clobert J., Nichols J.D., Danchin E., Dhondt A. eds.). Oxford University Press.
- Rousset F., Billiard S. A theoretical basis for measures of kin-selection in subdivided populations. *Submitted manuscript*.
- Satō K., Matsuda H., Sasaki A. 1994. Pathogen invasion and host extinction in lattice structured population. Evol. Ecol. 6:352-356.
- Sato K., Konno N. 1995. Successional dynamic models on the 2-Dimensional Lattice Space. J. Phys. Soc. Japan 64(6):1866-1869.
- Tilman D., Kareiva P. 1998. Spatial ecology: the role of space in population dynamics and interspecific interactions. Monographs in Population Biology, Princeton University Press.
- van Baalen M., Rand D.A. 1998. The unit of selection in viscous populations and the evolution of altruism. J. Theor. Biol. 193:631-648.
- van Baalen M. 2000. Pair approximations for different spatial geometries. in *The geometry of ecological interactions: simplifying spatial complexity* (Dieckmann U., Law R., Metz J.A.J. eds.). Cambridge University Press.